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OPINION AND ORDER


[bookmark: _Hlk524427807]BY THE COMMISSION:

Before the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (Commission) for consideration and disposition are the Exceptions of PECO Energy Company (PECO or Company) and its Motion to File Exceptions Nunc Pro Tunc (Motion), filed on January 10, 2018, to the Initial Decision (I.D.) of Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) Eranda Vero, issued on December 19, 2017, in the above-captioned proceeding.  A Response (in opposition) to PECO’s Motion was filed by KA at Fairless Hills, LP (KA or Complainant) on January 18, 2018.  KA did not file Replies to Exceptions.

This proceeding is a Formal Complaint (Complaint) of KA in which it alleges that PECO violated Sections 1303 and 1501 of the Public Utility Code (Code), 66 Pa. C.S. §§ 1303, 1501, when it applied tariff charges to KA’s service account pursuant to PECO Rate Schedule HT.  The tariff charges resulted in bills higher than those that would have occurred under a rate schedule more advantageous to KA under the facts and circumstances of the Complaint.  In the Initial Decision, the ALJ sustained the Complaint in concluding that KA met its burden of proof that PECO violated the Code.  Therefore, the ALJ assessed a $4,000 civil penalty against PECO and directed PECO to refund $22,000 to the Complainant.

On consideration of the Motion and the Response thereto, we shall grant the Motion and consider the merits of the Exceptions.  We find that PECO has demonstrated good cause for the late filing of the Exceptions two days after the due date that was set forth in the Secretarial Letter that was issued serving a copy of the Initial Decision upon the Parties.[footnoteRef:2]  Upon consideration of PECO’s Exceptions, we shall grant them and reverse the ALJ’s Initial Decision, consistent with the discussion in this Opinion and Order. [2: 	The Secretarial Letter, which was dated December 19, 2017, directed that Exceptions were due twenty days thereafter, or on or before, January 8, 2018.] 


The Commission regulations provide that reply exceptions are due within ten days of the date that an exception is due, 52 Pa. Code § 5.535(a), which would have been no later than January 18, 2017.  The Complainant filed its Response in Opposition to PECO’s Motion on January 18, 2017, which means that the Complainant had ample opportunity to file a response within the original guidelines.  A response to the exceptions themselves is usually included with a response to a motion to allow the filing of exceptions after the deadline had run.  No response was included here; nor did the Complainant ask that it be given additional time to file a response if the Commission allowed PECO to file its Exceptions late.

Background 

We principally rely on the undisputed Findings of Fact (FOF) set forth in the Initial Decision to state the Background.

The Complainant, KA, owns the Fairless Hills Shopping Center at 500 Lincoln Highway, Fairless Hills, Bucks County, Pennsylvania.  FOF No. 6.  KA bought the Fairless Hills Shopping Center in or about 2013, and that is when The Klein Group added Pennsylvania properties to its real estate portfolio.  FOF No. 7.  The Klein Group owns and operates twenty-seven properties which include shopping centers in New Jersey, retail condominiums in New York City, and two shopping centers in Pennsylvania.  The Klein Group is the managing partner and the managing agent for KA.  FOF Nos. 5, 3; I.D. at 15.

PECO provides electric utility service to the Complainant’s property, which is the shopping center and includes the specific premises of a retail store (Service Address) which is the subject of this dispute.  See I.D. at 12, 15.  The Great Atlantic & Pacific Tea Company, better known as A&P, owned and operated a Pathmark grocery store within the shopping center, i.e., Service Address, prior to and during the acquisition of the property by KA.  FOF No. 8.

In the summer of 2015, A&P filed for bankruptcy.  FOF No. 24.  In late 2015, Pathmark contacted PECO to have its electric service disconnected at all previous Pathmark locations.  Electric service was scheduled to be disconnected from all the locations previously occupied by Pathmark in early January of 2016.  FOF Nos. 26, 27.  The Pathmark store, formerly operated at the Service Address and KA’s shopping center tenant, vacated KA’s property at 500 Lincoln Highway, Fairless Hills.  I.D. at 12; FOF Nos. 23, 24.  Pursuant to its rights under the federal bankruptcy laws, A&P, d/b/a Pathmark, rejected its lease with KA.  See FOF No. 25; I.D. at 15.[footnoteRef:3] [3: 	See 11 U.S.C. § 365.] 


All Pathmark stores in PECO’s service territory, including the store which was vacated at the shopping center property of the Complainant, received electric utility service pursuant to PECO’s high-tension power rate (HT).  FOF No. 9; I.D. at 18.

The HT rate is a discounted rate on the distribution side that PECO offers to commercial or industrial customers which have high tension service installed and own and maintain their own electrical equipment and transformer switch gear.  FOF No. 10.  Because it is a discounted rate on the distribution side, the HT rate is a lower rate than PECO’s general service rate (GS).  FOF No. 11.  However, the HT rate has a higher customer charge than the GS rate.  See I.D. at 17, citing Tr. at 148.

According to PECO’s tariff, all customers who choose the HT rate must do so by entering into an initial three-year contract with PECO.  Tr. at 150-51, PECO Exhibit 4.  The only way for a customer to get out of the three-year contract would be by closing the account. Tr. at 150, FOF No. 13.

The HT rate requires that a customer be locked into “contract limits.”  These represent the maximum/minimum demand that PECO will reserve for that customer’s capacity on the line.  The minimum is calculated as 40% of the maximum demand.  The HT customer cannot be charged for less than the contractual minimum even if the customer’s actual usage is much lower.  A commercial customer on PECO’s HT rate will be billed based on its usage or measured load, as long as that load does not fall below the minimum load for which it has contracted.  There is no penalty for a HT customer that goes over the contracted maximum demand, but the customer would run the risk of power quality problems because it would pull more demand than what PECO had reserved for that customer.  FOF Nos. 14-17; Tr. at 148-149; 158. 

PECO asks its HT customers to provide the Company with information on how much electricity they anticipate using.  FOF No. 18; Tr. at 149.  PECO’s engineering team verifies that the requested capacity is available and then reserves that capacity for the HT customer.  Id.  PJM Interconnection LLC (PJM) oversees the electrical grid on most of the East Coast.  Tr. at 159.  During a specific five-day period, usually in July, PJM will review each commercial electric customer’s peak demand and determine the Peak Load Contribution (PLC) value for that customer’s account.  Tr. at 160-61, 242-43.  The new PLC becomes effective in May of the following year.  See FOF Nos. 18-22; Tr. at 60, 243.

PECO’s tariff rules for designation of procurement class require that a new customer in an existing facility be assigned to the same procurement class as the last customer in that facility unless it can provide PECO with an engineering estimate of their diversified peak demand for an existing facility with a substantially different use.  FOF No. 34; Tr. at 163-65, PECO Exhibit 4.

In contrast to PECO’s HT rate, PECO’s GS rate has no contract limit and no reserved capacity.  A PECO customer under the GS rate would be billed strictly based on that customer’s measured load.  The contract term for the GS rate is one year, instead of three years for the HT rate.  See FOF Nos. 42-44; PECO Exhibit 4.

As noted, Pathmark, KA’s former tenant, advised PECO that electric service was to be disconnected from all the locations previously occupied by A&P d/b/a Pathmark.  Pathmark scheduled the disconnections for early January of 2016.  FOF Nos. 26, 27; Tr. at 152.  Because Mr. Christopher Cavaliero of PECO had been Pathmark’s account manager, Pathmark provided Mr. Cavaliero’s contact information to the owners of the locations that the company vacated.  FOF No. 28.

The Klein Group’s standard practice when one of its tenants vacates a property is to walk through the property to ensure that the property is secured, and unnecessary equipment is turned off.  Next, the group would place the utilities in the name of The Klein Group.  This procedure was followed for the Service Address.  I.D. at 15.  Neither KA nor The Klein Group ever had an account with PECO before Pathmark vacated the Service Address.  I.D. at 16; Tr. at 110.

In January of 2016, Ms. Martha Maik, a part-time clerical employee of The Klein Group working one day per week, contacted Mr. Cavaliero at PECO requesting that electric service at the Service Address be placed in KA’s name.  FOF Nos.29, 30.  Ms. Maik declined to engage in a rate selection for KA with Mr. Cavaliero.  Instead, Ms. Maik asked that everything be kept “as is” until a supervisor from KA or The Klein Group could get back to PECO.  FOF No. 32.[footnoteRef:4] [4: 	In the Initial Decision, ALJ Vero noted that Ms. Maik originally did not recall with whom she spoke at PECO.  The Initial Decision states that Ms. Maik was instructed to inform PECO that Pathmark had gone out of business and was closing its store at the Service Address.  I.D. at 13, Tr. 24.  Ms. Maik needed to make sure that the power would not be turned off at the location.  Id., Tr. 24-25, 29.  The ALJ also stated in the Initial Decision that “Ms. Maik did not recall who she spoke with at PECO or any details of the conversation.  Tr. 25-28, 30.  According to her, it was a routine and unremarkable request to switch electric service at the Service Address from Pathmark’s name to KA’s.”  Id., Tr. 30.] 


On January 11, 2016, PECO placed the account for the Service Address under KA’s name, keeping Pathmark’s rate, procurement class and PLC value in place. FOF No. 33.  The bills were to be sent to KA’s and The Klein Group’s office at 25A Hanover Road, Suite 350, Florham Park, NJ 07932.  FOF No. 31.

Between January 2016 and July 2016, KA received and paid the following PECO bills:

	
Billing period
	
Usage (kWh)
	Distribution/Transmission (kW per Contract)
	
Amount

	1/11/2016-2/4/2016
	57,984
	113
	$6,309.19

	2/4/2016-3/4/2016
	68,534
	113
	$8,222.58

	3/4/2016-4/4/2016
	62,224
	121
	$7,352.56

	4/4/2016-5/4/2016
	74,208
	122
	$8,481.95

	5/4/2016-6/2/2016
	79,005
	140
	$7,380.94

	Total
	15,455
	129
	$37,747.22




See FOF No. 35; Tr. at 174-76, Complainant Exhibit 1, PECO Exhibit 1.

In April of 2016, Ms. Olga Gilfedder, an accountant with The Klein Group in charge of paying all the bills that come in for all the properties the group owns, noticed that the electric bills for the Service Address were abnormally high for a vacant property.  I.D. at 13, Tr. at 33-34, 70.  Ms. Gilfedder first contacted The Klein Group property manager for the Service Address to ensure that only the necessary electrical equipment was on.  The electric bills, however, did not decrease.  So, in July 2016 Ms. Gilfedder contacted Mr. Cavaliero whose name appeared on KA’s bill from PECO.  Tr. at 39-40, Complainant Exhibit 1.  During that first conversation, Mr. Cavaliero informed Ms. Olga Gilfedder that Pathmark had a contract with PECO, and that the Complainant had “inherited” that contract.  I.D. at 13-14, Tr. at 40-41.

[bookmark: _Hlk528235715]On July 26, 2016, Mr. Cavaliero informed Ms. Gilfedder via e-mail that he was unable to locate the original Transfer of Information Form from KA, or the initial contract.  Attached to Mr. Cavaliero’s July 26, 2016 e-mail, was a pre-filled contract for service at the Service Address.  See I.D. at 14; Tr. at 47, Complainant Exhibit 5.  The contract listed KA under Procurement Class 3 (101-500 kW measured or estimated peak demand) and as an “Existing Customer” with current established PLC at 433.  Id. Tr. at 47‑50, Complainant Exhibit 5.  On August 11, 2016, KA sent PECO the signed contract, then requested that it be rebilled for usage during the period January to July 2016.  Id.  Tr. at 52-53.  On August 26, 2016, Mr. Cavaliero communicated to KA that PECO’s policy prevented the new contract terms from becoming effective, retroactively.  Id., Tr. at 51.

Ms. Gilfedder testified that KA’s electricity bills remained high even after the new contract came into effect.  I.D. at 14, Tr. at 55-56, Complainant Exhibit 2.  Ms. Gilfedder explained that after reviewing the bills, she began to suspect that it was the peak load contribution (PLC) (then set at 433 kW) that was the reason for the high charges.  Id., Tr. at 56-60.  She contacted Mr. Cavaliero, who sent her an e-mail about changing the PLC value on the account, along with an attached Transfer of Information Form to be sent back on the Complainant’s company letterhead.  Tr. at 60-61.  The Transfer of Information Form had a PLC value set at 50 kW.  Id., Tr. at 61-62, Complainant Exhibit 7.

KA’s bills following the new PLC effective date of September 1, 2016, were substantially lower from what they were before.  Once KA saw the lower electric bills, it asked PECO for a rebilling based on the new rate and PLC value.  The Complainant’s request was rejected by PECO.  I.D. at 14, citing testimony of Ms. Gilfedder. 

On cross-examination of Ms. Gilfedder by PECO’s counsel, Ms. Gilfedder explained that KA never approached PECO with questions about the distribution charges and the PLC because the Complainant did not know what they were. I.D. at 15, Tr. at 71‑72.

Ms. Gilfedder testified that her request to Mr. Cavaliero during her communications with him in July 2016, was for the Complainant to be billed on usage.  She did not discuss the PLC or the other charges with Mr. Cavaliero because she did not know what they were.  Ms. Gilfedder stated, “We did not know that . . . we’ve been billed those set numbers months after months after months.”  I.D. at 15, citing Tr. at 72.
Ms. Gilfedder testified that Mr. Cavaliero did not mention the PLC, the distribution charges, transmission charges and procurement class when he talked to her in July 2016.  Id., Tr. at 72-73.  Ms. Gilfedder insisted, however, that from her first communication with Mr. Cavaliero in July 2016, she explained to him that the Service Address was vacant and that the bills were abnormally high for a vacant property.  Id., Tr. at 73, 82.

KA next presented the testimony of Mark Kessler, Asset Manager for The Klein Group.  I.D. at 15.  Mr. Kessler is responsible for overseeing the daily operation of the group’s portfolio of commercial real estate in the three states of New York, New Jersey and Pennsylvania.  I.D. at 15, citing Tr. at 86.  Mr. Kessler explained the relationship between KA, which owns the Fairless Hills Shopping Center where the Service Address is located, and The Klein Group.

Mr. Kessler testified that A&P, who is the owner of Pathmark, filed for bankruptcy in the summer of 2015.  I.D. at 15, Tr. at 90.  A&P had 456 stores under different name brands across three or four different states, with the Service Address being one of those stores.  Id.  The bankruptcy discharge gave Pathmark the right to reject the lease it had with KA, so in late December of 2015, Pathmark vacated the Service Address.  Id.  Mr. Kessler testified that whenever one of its tenants vacates one of its properties, The Klein Group’s standard practice is to walk through the property to ensure that it is secured, and unnecessary equipment is turned off.  Afterwards, the group would place the utilities in its own name.  The same procedure was followed for the Service Address.  I.D. at 15.

In April of 2016, Ms. Gilfedder brought to Mr. Kessler’s attention the high electricity bills that the Complainant was paying at the Service Address.  I.D. at 15-16. According to Mr. Kessler, the bill seemed high for a “vacant 65,000 square foot box.”  I.D. at 16, Tr. at 92.  Therefore, a property manager was sent to the Service Address to make sure all unnecessary electrical equipment was turned off.  Id., Tr. at 92-93, 114, 125‑26.  The property manager found that certain HVAC equipment at the location was still on and corrected the situation.  However, the bills from PECO remained high. Id., Tr. at 93, 114.  Thereafter, Ms. Gilfedder contacted Mr. Cavaliero at PECO to question the high bills that the Complainant was receiving.  Id.

From January 2016 to July 2016, the Complainant paid more than $37,000 to PECO.  An additional amount of $11,000 was paid in April 2017, to have service restored at the Service Address.  I.D. at 16.

Mr. Kessler explained that neither KA nor The Klein Group ever had an account with PECO before Pathmark vacated the Service Address.  Before that, The Klein Group did not have any vacancies in its Pennsylvania shopping centers.  He testified that the group had dealt with various utilities in New Jersey and New York without encountering the problems they faced with the electricity service at the Service Address.  I.D. at 16.  Prior to the present dispute with PECO, Mr. Kessler was not aware that there was a rate structure in Pennsylvania or that there were different rates available for the same service.  He averred that PECO never told the Complainant about the preexisting rates that the Complainant would inherit from the previous tenant.  Id.

PECO presented the testimony of Mr. Christopher Cavaliero, Senior Account Manager for PECO’s Large Customer Services in charge of managing the accounts of PECO’s large commercial customers.  The accounts include generating stations, nuclear power plants, supermarkets and fast food restaurants.  I.D. at 16, Tr. at 144.

Mr. Cavaliero explained that Pathmark was one of his “clients” as Senior Account Manager.[footnoteRef:5]  He explained the characteristics of the HT rate, under which most, if not all, of his accounts were serviced.  Tr. at 145-158.  He also testified that he was advised that Pathmark had filed for bankruptcy protection.  Tr. at 151.   [5: 	Mr. Cavaliero implied from his testimony that although he was responsible for the Pathmark accounts, which included several store locations, the operations of KA would not necessarily fall under his responsibility based on the criteria that in order to become a “managed account,” the ownership should include over twelve properties in PECO’s service territory.  Tr. at 145.  Mr. Cavaliero had handled “roughly” fifty stores under the Pathmark, and Super Fresh names, under A&P.  Id.] 


According to Mr. Cavaliero, it is not PECO’s responsibility or obligation to recommend the most advantageous rate to new applicants, e.g., HT or GS.  I.D. at 18, Tr. at 153, 155.  He testified that he will assist applicants with the rate selection, but only if he is asked.  Mr. Cavaliero explained that he will present the applicant with PECO’s rate options, point the applicant to PECO’s tariff to show them how each rate is set up, but “ultimately the decision is theirs.”  Id.

[bookmark: _Hlk528238133]Mr. Cavaliero also testified that in January 2016, Martha Maik from The Klein Group called him to let him know that The Klein Group was taking over the Service Address from Pathmark because Pathmark was moving out, and she needed the electric service to be placed in KA’s name.  I.D. at 20.  Mr. Cavaliero testified that he informed Ms. Maik of the contract limits associated with the account and asked if the applicant wanted to keep them as they were or adjust them.  Tr. at 168-69.  Ms. Maik indicated that she was not familiar with contract limits and that she had to talk to her boss before she made a decision on the contract limits, but that she needed to place the electric service at the Service Address in KA’s name.  Tr. at 168-69, 238.  In the meantime, PECO was to keep everything “as it was” until KA or The Klein Group got back to PECO to discuss the rates at a future date. Tr. at 169, 238, 277.  Mr. Cavaliero maintained that Ms. Maik did not inform him during their January 2016 conversation that the Service Address was vacant.  Id., Tr. at 169.  Electric service was subsequently initiated in KA’s name on January 11, 2016.  Tr. at 174.  Between January 2016 and July 2016, KA received and paid PECO bills pursuant to rate HT.  I.D. at 21.

On July 1, 2016, PECO issued a bill to KA for electric service in the amount of $5,800.52 for the period from June 2, 2016 to July 1, 2016.  PECO Exhibit 1. The bill was due to be paid on July 20, 2016.  Id.  On July 13, 2016, Mr. Cavaliero received a call from Ms. Gilfedder, who challenged KA’s electric bill for the Service Address as abnormally high for a vacant property.  Tr. at 176.  At this time, Mr. Cavaliero suggested that KA would be better served under the GS rate which carried no contract limits and allowed KA to be billed strictly on usage.  I.D. at 21, Tr. at 177, 189.
 
On July 15, 2016, Mr. Cavaliero mailed KA a new contract.  I.D. at 21-22.  The new contract was, essentially PECO’s form contract for commercial/industrial class electric service (rates GS, PD, and HT) with KA’s information and contract terms selected by PECO.  PECO Exhibit 7.  The rate for service was GS; the contract term was one year commencing on the first day of July 2016; and the default service procurement class was Procurement Class 3 (101-500 kW measured or estimated peak demand).  Under the peak load contribution section, PECO selected the classification “Existing Customer” with current established PLC at 433 kW.  Tr. at 50, PECO Exhibit 4.  Mr. Cavaliero explained that PECO’s selection of KA’s procurement class was based on KA’s usage history from the time they were at the Service Address (Tr. at 179, PECO Exhibit 1), whereas the contract PLC reflected Pathmark’s PLC as determined in July 2015, relative to the prior ratepayer’s (i.e., Pathmark’s) PLC as determined by PJM.  I.D. at 22, Tr. at 179-81.  KA was left on Pathmark’s 433 PLC for two billing periods (i.e., July 1, 2016 – August 1, 2016, and August 1, 2016 – August 31, 2016); Complainant Exhibit 2.  I.D. at 22.

On September 21, 2016, Mr. Cavaliero e-mailed Ms. Gilfedder a Transfer of Information form with instructions to have it sent back on the customer’s letterhead. Tr. at 208-209, PECO Exhibit 10.  The Complainant complied with his instructions on September 22, 2016.  The new PLC took effect on September 1, 2016.  The new PLC was reflected in KA’s electric bill issued on September 30, 2016.  From that point on, KA was in the most advantageous position for the account.  I.D. at 23.

Procedural History

On February 20, 2017, KA, through its counsel, filed a Complaint with the Commission against PECO alleging that there were incorrect charges on its electricity bills from PECO.[footnoteRef:6]  The Complainant alleged, inter alia, that PECO failed to assist the Complainant in choosing the correct rate after the Complainant’s tenant, a Pathmark store operating out of the Fairless Hills Shopping Center, vacated the Complainant’s property.  For relief, the Complainant requested a refund of any overcharges paid to PECO for electric service from the period January 1, 2016, to the present.  See I.D. at 1-2. [6: 	The Complaint was preceded by an informal complaint filed with the Commission’s Bureau of Consumer Service (BCS) at BCS Case # 3498641, on January 5, 2017, alleging a high billing dispute.  In response to the BCS informal complaint, PECO offered to restore service to KA on the condition that KA pay an outstanding balance of $20,128.87, minus a $5,000.00 credit towards its account.  On January 10, 2017, BCS closed the informal complaint based on PECO’s terms to restore service.  On January 11, 2017, PECO turned the power back on at the Service Address without receiving a payment from KA.  See FOF Nos. 63-66.] 


On March 22, 2017, PECO filed an Answer denying the material allegations of the Complaint.  I.D. at 2.

An initial hearing was scheduled for Friday, May 5, 2017, at 10:00 a.m. and the matter was assigned to ALJ Vero.

On March 28, 2017, KA filed a Petition for Interim Emergency Order (Petition) with the Commission pursuant to 52 Pa. Code § 3.6.  KA requested an emergency order to restore its electric service which had been terminated by PECO.[footnoteRef:7]  According to the Petition, lack of electric service and operating fire safety equipment presented an ongoing threat to the health and safety of the consumers who visit other stores in the shopping center as well as residents who live near the shopping center.  KA expressed its willingness to pay its current bills and maintained that PECO would suffer no prejudice if the Commission ordered the Respondent to immediately restore electric service to the vacant store.  I.D. at 2. [7: 	KA, after registering its dispute with PECO, did not make any payments towards its account with PECO during the period July 2016 to April 2017.  PECO, thereafter, followed applicable procedures under the Code and terminated service.  See FOF Nos. 58-69.] 


By Notice dated March 31, 2017, a hearing was scheduled to address the Complainant’s Petition seeking interim emergency relief.  A Prehearing Order was issued on April 3, 2017.

The hearing on the Petition was held at the Philadelphia Regional Office, 801 Market Street, on April 7, 2017, at 2:00 p.m.  KA was represented by Hope Bosniak, Esquire.  PECO was represented by Shawane Lee, Esquire.  Prior to the hearing, the Parties engaged in settlement discussions and were able to reach a settlement agreement on the request for interim emergency relief in the form of restoration of KA’s electricity service.  Ms. Lee stated the terms of the agreement on the record at the hearing.  Because the settlement agreement gave KA the relief requested in its Petition, on April 11, 2017, ALJ Vero issued an Order denying the Petition as moot.  I.D. at 3.[footnoteRef:8] [8: 	To resolve the Petition, KA agreed to pay the amount of $11,068.00 of its outstanding balance of $25,736.95 in cash or certified check.  In exchange for the payment of $11,068.00, PECO agreed to restore power to KA’s premises.  The Parties further agreed that if the Complainant failed to pay current undisputed charges going forward, PECO was authorized to suspend or terminate its electricity service in accordance with the Code and Commission regulations.  I.D. at 3.] 


The matter proceeded to evidentiary hearings which convened as scheduled on May 5, 2017.  David S. Dessen, Esquire, represented KA and presented the testimony of Olga Gilfedder, Martha Maik, and Mark P. Kessler.  The Complainant sponsored sixteen exhibits (Complainant’s Exhibits 1-5, 5A, 6-9, 11-14, and 16-17) which were admitted into the record.  I.D. at 3.  Shawane L. Lee, Esquire, represented PECO and presented the testimony of Christopher Cavaliero, Senior Account Manager for PECO’s Large Customer Services.  PECO sponsored 16 exhibits which were admitted into the record.

The record in this matter was closed upon receipt of the hearing transcript on June 6, 2017.  I.D. at 3.

Discussion

	A.	Motion to File Exceptions Nunc Pro Tunc

As a threshold consideration, we must determine whether to consider PECO’s Exceptions on their merits as the Exceptions were filed out of time.  The Secretarial Letter issuing the Initial Decision in this matter was dated December 19, 2017, and provided for Exceptions to be filed within twenty days of that date.  PECO’s Exceptions were received by the Commission on January 10, 2018.  Based on the foregoing, PECO’s Exceptions were filed two days past the due date as set forth in the Secretarial Letter.

PECO filed a Motion to File Exceptions Nunc Pro Tunc, to which KA responded in opposition.  In its Motion, PECO relies upon Info Connections, Inc. v. Pa. PUC, 630 A.2d 498 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1993), for the proposition that the Commission can waive procedural defects when such waiver will not affect the substantive rights of the parties.  Motion at 2.

PECO further cites our Regulation at 52 Pa. Code § 1.15(a)(1) and provides its explanation of “reasonable cause” for the delay in filing.  PECO explains that the Initial Decision, as noted, was issued December 19, 2017.  Also, as noted, the Secretarial Letter provided for Exceptions to be filed within twenty (20) days of this date.  However, explains PECO, the intervening dates included the Christmas and New Year’s Eve holidays during which period, December 21, 2017 – January 3, 2018, lead trial counsel for PECO was “unavailable.”  Motion at 2.

PECO continues, that on January 4-5, 2018, a severe storm impacted the Philadelphia metropolitan area and all schools and City of Philadelphia offices, including the Philadelphia Office of Administrative Law Judge, were closed.  Id.  PECO concludes that these factors led to one available working day, December 20, 2017, for counsel to prepare and file Exceptions on behalf of PECO.  Motion at 2.

Counsel for KA opposed the PECO Motion.  Counsel concedes that there was a severe snowstorm that affected the Philadelphia area on January 4, 2018.  However, counsel does not concede that this event provides good cause i.e., reasonable grounds, for consideration of PECO’s Exceptions two days late.

KA notes that it has not found any case interpreting the standard of “reasonable grounds” as set forth in 52 Pa. Code § 1.15(a)(1).  However, KA advocates for an interpretation of similar language that is used as part of the second of three requirements that a petitioner must establish in order to prevail on a petition to open a default judgment in civil practice.  See KA Response at 2.  KA argues that, because both a petition to open a default judgment in civil practice and a Motion to File Exceptions Nunc Pro Tunc are appeals to a tribunal’s equitable powers, the meaning of “reasonable grounds” pursuant to the Commission’s Regulations should be interpreted the same as the meaning of “reasonable excuse” in the default judgment context.  Id.

Based on the foregoing, KA cites Myers v. Wells Fargo Bank, N. A., 986 A.2d 171 (Pa. Super. 2008), wherein the Superior Court explained that a reasonable excuse for the entry of a default judgment exists and a default judgment may be opened where the failure to answer was due to an oversight, an unintentional omission to act, or a mistake as to the rights and duties of the appellant.  Response at 3, citing Myers, 986 A.2d at 177.
KA argues that PECO knew that, pursuant to Section 1.15(a)(1) of the Commission’s Regulations, it would only have to meet the lesser burden of “good cause” to obtain an extension of time in which to file its Exceptions if it filed a motion seeking an extension time before January 8, 2018.  KA asserts that such a motion could have been filed by any attorney in PECO’s legal department at any time between 
December 10, 2017 and January 7, 2018.  Response at 3.

KA is critical of the facts interposed by PECO to establish reasonable grounds for consideration of its Exceptions.

KA faults PECO’s explanation in its Motion because it fails, inter alia, to show why PECO was not able to request an extension of time prior to the expiration of the due date for filing, or whether PECO’s lead trial counsel was in a location where she could not prepare the necessary documents, and/or that no other attorney in PECO’s legal department could have either requested an extension or drafted Exceptions for review and approval by the lead trial counsel.  KA further criticizes the Motion because PECO does not represent that its offices were closed during the afore-cited storm, or that lead trial counsel, or any other member of PECO’s legal staff, did not have access to the materials necessary to draft PECO’s Exceptions.

Based on the foregoing, KA argues that PECO’s failure to timely file Exceptions is not due to an oversight, an unintentional omission to act, or a mistake as to its rights and duties, as are the standards that apply under civil practice for opening default judgments.

Disposition

[bookmark: _Hlk527471195]Section 1.15(a)(1) of our Regulations, 52 Pa. Code § 1.15(a)(1), provides that for “reasonable grounds,” we may extend time periods, in this instance, the time for filing Exceptions.[footnoteRef:9]  Even after the expiration of the specified period, we may permit an act to be done where reasonable grounds are shown for the failure to act.  Id. [9: 	See 52 Pa. Code § 1.15(a):
§ 1.15.  Extensions of time and continuances.
  (a)  Extensions of time shall be governed by the following:
         (1) . . . Upon motion made after the expiration of the specified period, the act may be permitted to be done where reasonable grounds are shown for the failure to act.] 


On consideration of the positions of the Parties, we shall decline to adopt the position of KA that “reasonable grounds” pursuant to our Regulation at Section 1.15(a)(1), should be interpreted consistent with “reasonable excuse” under civil practice pertaining to opening default judgments.

In certain contexts, the Commission’s Rules of Administrative Practice and Procedure are interpreted and applied by this Commission similar to the procedure utilized in Pennsylvania civil practice.  See, e.g., 52 Pa. Code § 5.101, pertaining to the filing of preliminary objections; also Equitable Small Transportation Interveners v. Equitable Gas Company, 1994 Pa. PUC LEXIS 69, Docket No. C-00935435 (July 18, 1994); Montague v. Philadelphia Electric Company, 66 Pa. PUC 24 (1988).

However, we do not find any merit to the imposition of a standard borrowed from civil practice that we should apply to the term “reasonable grounds” in Section 1.15(a)(1) of our Regulations.  Similar to considerations addressed by ALJ Buckley in a discussion concerning the proper interpretation of the term “good cause,” we find that the definition and application of the standards that constitute reasonable grounds is better left to be determined in the specific context in which the issue arises and better left to the sound discretion of this agency.  See Petition of the Office of Small Business Advocate Seeking Intervention by the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission in Proceedings before the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission Regarding the Proposed Merger of Exelon Corporation and Constellation Energy Group . . ., Docket No. P-2011-2247936 (Recommended Decision ALJ Buckley issued December 19, 2012); affirmed Order entered April 18, 2013), interpreting “good cause.”

[bookmark: 7387-]On consideration of the facts set forth in the Motion, we are able to find that PECO has shown “reasonable grounds” pursuant to our Regulations, for our consideration of its late-filed Exceptions.  See Gerald S. Lepre, Jr. v. Equitable Gas Company, Docket No. C-2010-2189362 (Order entered January 30, 2012).  We also find that no substantial prejudice will inure to KA as a result of our granting the Motion and to consider the Exceptions “nunc pro tunc” under the circumstances set forth in the Statement.  See, generally, Renee C. Ogilvie-Spann v. PECO Energy Company, Docket No. C-2010-2195490 (Order entered June 10, 2011).

	B.	ALJ’s Recommendations

ALJ Vero made seventy Findings of Fact (FOF) and drew thirteen Conclusions of Law.  We, hereby, adopt said Findings of Fact. Said Conclusions of Law are also adopted unless they are expressly rejected or modified, or rejected or modified by necessary implication from our disposition to grant, in part, PECO’s Exceptions

1.	Burden of Proof

ALJ Vero assigned the burden or proof in this Complaint to KA, as the proponent of a rule or order from the Commission concerning whether the actions of PECO were in violation of the Code.  I.D. at 12-13; 66 Pa. C.S. §§ 332(a); 701.

2.	Violation of Section 1303 of the Code

Section 1303 of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 1303, provides in pertinent part the following:

. . . The rates specified in such tariffs shall be the lawful rates of such public utility until changed, as provided in this part.  Any public utility, having more than one rate applicable to service rendered to a patron, shall, after notice of service conditions, compute bills under the rate most advantageous to the patron.


ALJ Vero addressed the controlling administrative and caselaw precedent involving allegations of a violation of Section 1303 of the Code.  See I.D. at 25:

[T]he Commonwealth Court emphasized in Springfield Twp. v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm'n, 676 A.2d 304 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1996), that public utilities are not required to bill customers on the most advantageous rate until after the utilities receive notice of service conditions.  Moreover, in The Victory Condominium Association v. PECO Energy Co., Opinion and Order, Docket No. C-2011-2268126, entered September 27, 2012, at 9-10 (Victory Condo), the Commission stated,

Utilities do not have an affirmative obligation to monitor the usage characteristics of their ratepayers and determine therefrom the proper rate to be charged.  Instead, the responsibility is upon the ratepayer to provide the utility company with actual notice of a change in service conditions before the utility must determine and supply service at the most advantageous rate.

(Emphasis added.)  The Commission further cited City of Pittsburgh v. Duquesne Light Co., 54 Pa. PUC 460 (1980) as stating,

[bookmark: _Hlk527114182]The more correct, sensible, and practical interpretation of § 1303 is that actual, not constructive, notice is required before a utility is required to determine and apply the most advantageous rate.  We adopt this interpretation. The term “actual notice” includes such notice as is affirmatively proved to have been given to a party directly, and also such notice as a party is presumed to have received personally because facts within its knowledge were sufficient to place upon the party the duty to inquire about the fact or condition in question.  The former is to express actual notice – e.g., written or oral notice – and the latter is implied actual notice.


Victory Condo, at 10, citing, Springfield Twp. v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm'n, 676 A.2d 304 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1996); and Mauro v. Duquesne Light Co., 69 Pa. PUC 105 (1989).  (Emphasis added.)


I.D. at 25.

Based on the foregoing, the Commission has interpreted the term “notice”  in Section 1303 of the Code “. . . include[s] such notice as is affirmatively proved to have been given to a party directly, and also such notice as a party is presumed to have  received personally because facts within its knowledge were sufficient to place upon the party the duty to inquire about the fact  or condition in question.”  I.D. at 25 and citations.  The applicable standards are rigorous and were well-delineated in the Initial Decision.

On consideration of the record, particularly the testimony of KA representatives and Mr. Cavaliero of PECO, ALJ Vero concluded that KA met its burden of proving a violation of Section 1303 and 1501 of the Code.  The pertinent reasoning and conclusion of ALJ Vero is reprinted below:

After considering the evidence collected in this case, I find that PECO had implied actual notice of a new applicant at an existing service address from the conversation between Ms. Maik and Mr. Cavaliero in January of 2016.  I find that PECO failed to provide the Complainant with reasonable service when it failed to send the Complainant the Contract for Commercial/Industrial Class Electric Service, and the Transfer of Information Form following the January 2016 conversation with Ms. Maik.  By its failure to act, PECO deprived the Complainant of its right to choose the most advantageous rate for its service, or to determine what its load would be as a new customer at an existing premises.  These actions had financial consequences that were detrimental to the Complainant.  By PECO’s own calculations, had it placed the Complainant under its current contract terms since January of 2016, it would have charged the Complainant approximately $22,000 less for the service provided.  See Tr. 266, 269.  Of this difference in charges, $2,800 would have resulted from the rate change from HT to GS, and over $19,000 would have resulted from the PLC value change from 494 kW and 433 kW to 50 kW. Tr. 189-91, 196-97, 265.

In view of the above, I find that the Complainant successfully carried its burden of proving that PECO violated the provisions of 66 Pa.C.S. §§ 1501 and 1303 in connection with its contract for service at the Service Address.  The Complainant is entitled to a refund of the excessive charges.


I.D. at 28.

The governing standards are that the utility will be liable for a violation of Section 1303 of the Code based on a record demonstrating actual, rather than constructive, notice of service conditions of the patron, that entitle the patron to be billed at the most advantageous rate available.  I.D. at 26.

3.	Refund Pursuant to Section 1312(a) of the Code

Section 1312(a) of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 1312(a), provides, in pertinent part, the following:

a) General rule.--If, in any proceeding involving rates, the commission shall determine that any rate received by a public utility was unjust or unreasonable, or was in violation of any regulation or order of the commission, or was in excess of the applicable rate contained in an existing and effective tariff of such public utility, the commission shall have the power and authority to make an order requiring the public utility to refund the amount of any excess paid by any patron, in consequence of such unlawful collection, within four years prior to the date of the filing of the complaint, together with interest at the legal rate from the date of each such excessive payment.  In making a determination under this section, the commission need not find that the rate complained of was extortionate or oppressive. . . . The commission shall state in any refund order the exact amount to be paid, the reasonable time within which payment shall be made, and shall make findings upon pertinent questions of fact.


66 Pa. C.S. § 1312(a).

Based on the testimony elicited, ALJ Vero concluded that PECO had actual notice under the Code of service conditions that entitled KA to be billed at the most advantageous rate available as of contact between Mr. Cavaliero and Ms. Maik, KA’s employee in January 2016.  Consequently, ALJ Vero concluded that PECO’s actions had financial consequences that were detrimental to KA.

Using PECO’s calculations, ALJ Vero found that had PECO placed the Complainant under its current contract terms under rate GS since January of 2016, PECO would have charged KA Complainant approximately $22,000 less for the service that it had provided.  I.D. at 28, Tr. at 266, 269.  According to these calculations, $2,800 would have resulted from the rate change from HT to GS, and over $19,000 would have resulted from the PLC value change from 494 kW and 433 kW to 50 kW.  Id., Tr. at 189-91, 196-97, 265.  Thus, ALJ Vero recommended that PECO issue a refund to KA with interest at the legal rate, as provided for by statute.  I.D. at 29.

4.	Civil Penalty

ALJ Vero discussed the applicable Commission Regulations concerning whether to impose a civil penalty on pages 29-32 of the Initial Decision.

On application of the factors set forth in 52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(c), the ALJ recommended a civil penalty of $4,000, representing, approximately, $500 for every month in which PECO failed to charge KA under the most advantageous rate available.  I.D. at 32.
6

	C.	PECO’s Exceptions

1. Introduction

In an Introduction to its Exceptions, PECO holds that this dispute presents a “straightforward” question with respect to the actions it was required to take to assist a new customer[footnoteRef:10] at an existing location in its rate choice when PECO informed the customer that it must make a choice, but the customer responded that it wanted the rate to be kept, “as is” until a supervisor in its business could get back to PECO.  Exc. at 1. [10: 	We note that Finding of Fact # 48 indicates that PECO sent KA a new contract which identified KA as an “Existing Customer” with current established PLC at 433 kW. Tr. 50, PECO Exhibit 4.] 


[bookmark: _Hlk527626460]At page 2 of its Exceptions, PECO asserts that KA was “taking over operations” at an existing commercial site that had been previously operated as a grocery store.  Exc. at 2.  PECO cites Findings of Fact Nos. 8 and 30 in support of this statement.  It is PECO’s position that it acted reasonably when it essentially “kept things as is” after the initial contact from the KA representative, Ms. Maik, who informed the Company to place service in KA’s name but did not have authority to commit her employer to a new rate or rate schedule with PECO at the time of this contact.

1. PECO Exception No. 1 – PECO excepts to the ALJ’s conclusion that “PECO failed to provide the Complainant with reasonable service when it failed to send the Complainant the Contract for Commercial/Industrial Class Electric Service, and the Transfer of Information Form following the January 2016 conversation . . . By its failure to act, PECO deprived the Complainant of its right to 
choose the most advantageous rate for its service, or to determine what its load would be as a new customer at an existing premises.”  Initial Decision at 28.


In its Exception No. 1, PECO does not take issue with the findings in the Initial Decision that (1) PECO had actual notice of the fact that KA might change operations at the Service Address location; (2) that a different rate than was applied to provide service to the prior ratepayer, Pathmark, might be more advantageous; and (3) that PECO had a duty to [reasonably] assist the customer in making an appropriate rate choice.  See Exc. at 7; (emphasis PECO).  PECO also cites Springfield Twp., supra, and the line of cases analogous to Springfield Twp. to further admit that once actual notice was received of the change in service conditions, the utility had an affirmative duty to assist KA in making a proper rate decision.  Id.

PECO heavily relies on the facts and holdings of City of Pittsburgh v. Duquesne Light Co., 54 Pa. PUC 460 (1980), Ben Mauro v. Duquesne Light Co., 69 Pa. PUC 105 (1989), and Springfield Twp., Victory Condominium Assoc. v. PECO Energy Co., Docket No. C-2011-2268126 (Order entered September 27, 2012) as supportive of the reasonableness of its interactions with KA in this litigation.  See Exc. at 6-13.

PECO relies upon the line of cases of Springfield Twp., supra, to assert that it acted in good faith to assist KA in choosing the most advantageous rate under circumstances and conditions where it advised the patron of the need to make a choice but was not in position to actively monitor the energy needs of the patron until more specific information was actually received in or about, July 2016. 

Disposition

We advise the Parties that any issue or argument that we do not specifically address should be deemed to have been duly considered and denied without further discussion.  The Commission is not required to consider expressly or at length each contention or argument raised by the Parties.  Consolidated Rail Corp. v.  Pa. PUC, 625 A.2d 741 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1993); also see, generally, University of Pennsylvania v. Pa. PUC, 485 A.2d 1217 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1984).

As noted, the standards for finding a violation of Section 1303 of the Code based on notice of a change in service conditions is express or implied actual notice.

In City of Pittsburgh v. Duquesne Light Co., the city of Pittsburgh brought a complaint against the utility seeking retroactive billing and a refund based on the fact that the use of electricity at a skating rink, during a four-year period, qualified it for a more advantageous rate.  The city took the position that the actual usage/consumption of electricity at the rink over the four years of operation acted as a sufficient basis on which to impute knowledge of a change in service conditions to the utility for liability under Section 1303 of the Code.  The city and the utility had agreed on the rate under which the city was billed after prior discussions and negotiations.

The essential issue addressed by the Commission in City of Pittsburgh v. Duquesne Light Co. was stated as follows, “[t]he crucial issue in this matter is whether § 1303 should be construed to require a retroactive adjustment to the most advantageous rate where Duquesne had at best constructive, not actual, notice . . .”  54 Pa. PUC at 462.

On consideration of the positions of the parties, the Commission in City of Pittsburgh v. Duquesne Light Co., ruled in favor of the utility and concluded that no refund was due.  54 Pa. PUC at 463.  The Commission rejected the position of the city that a utility has an obligation to monitor the consumption habits of the ratepayer and, upon such review, immediately apply the most advantageous rate.  54 Pa. PUC at 462.  The Commission interpreted “notice” as intended under Section 1303 of the Code and concluded that there could be implied actual notice and express actual notice.  However, implied actual notice would be found where the notice is “ . . . such notice as a party is presumed to have received personally because facts within its knowledge were sufficient to place upon the party the duty to inquire about the fact or condition in question.”  54 Pa. PUC at 463.

Because the utility, in the case of City of Pittsburgh v. Duquesne Light Co., did not have actual knowledge of the city’s decision to abandon previously discussed plans for multi-function operations at the skating rink, no express or implied knowledge was found and imputed to the city.  Had the planned operations at the rink been followed, such increased consumption would have resulted in the benefits of the alleged, more advantageous rate.

In Ben Mauro v. Duquesne Light Company, a commercial ratepayer filed a complaint against the utility contending that he was overcharged for electric utility service and entitled to a refund due to the utility’s failure to notify him of the availability of a more advantageous rate, Rider 5 service, and apply this rate for his commercial account for a two-year period.  The availability of the rate was made known through “mailers” issued by the utility.  69 Pa. PUC at 108.

In Ben Mauro v. Duquesne Light Company, the Commission denied the complaint and adopted the reasoning of the presiding ALJ.  The reasoning of the presiding ALJ, consistent with the City of Pittsburgh, was that “. . . utilities cannot be expected to know more about their customers’ business than the customers themselves and cannot be expected to make their decisions for them.  A utility is not the co-manager of its customers’ operations.  69 Pa. PUC at 109, citing City of Pittsburgh 54 Pa. PUC at 463.  Under the facts of Ben Mauro v. Duquesne Light Company, neither the mailing of pamphlets notifying the utility’s customers of the availability of the more advantageous rate, nor a change in the business operations of the ratepayer that placed him in position to take advantage of the rate prior to a letter request to the utility to be billed under the more advantageous tariff, were considerations that supported a finding of implied or express actual notice sufficient for a violation of Section 1303 of the Code.[footnoteRef:11] [11: 	The Commission concluded that the ratepayer was entitled to receive reimbursement for the period of time when the service was scheduled to be installed and when the service was actually installed.  69 Pa. PUC at 110.] 


In Springfield Township v. Pa. PUC, 676 A.2d 304 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1996), a township raised a formal complaint with the Commission against PECO concerning a refund for billing pursuant to a more advantageous rate pertaining to street lighting.

[bookmark: PAGE_4902]In Springfield Township v. Pa. PUC, the Department of Transportation (DOT) owned and installed lighting fixtures in Springfield Township (Township).  The fixtures were billed under PECO’s GS rate.  PECO owned all other street lighting fixtures in the Township.  The PECO-owned street lights were billed to its customers, including the Township, under an SL-S (Street Lighting-Suburban) rate.[footnoteRef:12]  In July 1986, PECO established a rate SL-E (Street Lighting-Energy), applicable to street lights.  This rate was available to “ . . . any governmental agency outside of the City of Philadelphia for outdoor lighting of streets . . .”  The rate applied to street lights, “ . . . installed, owned and maintained by a governmental agency.”  676 A.2d at 306. [12: 	DOT shared the costs of maintaining the street lights with the Township by reimbursing the Township 50% of the electric charges.  676 A.2d at 305-306. ] 


The Township subsequently negotiated the purchase of the PECO-owned street lights within the Township to take advantage of the SL-E rate.  The transaction did not include the DOT-installed street lights.  On purchase of all PECO-owned street lights, the rate for those street lights was changed and the Township was billed pursuant to the SL-E rate.  676 A.2d at 306.  

Later, an energy consultant hired by the Township discovered that the DOT-installed street lights in the Township were not billed at the SL-E rate.  An oral request on behalf of the Township for a rate change from the GS to the SL-E rate for these fixtures was made and later followed by a written request.  The rate was changed by PECO within a reasonable time after.

The Township filed a formal complaint with the Commission against PECO.  The Township alleged that based on its ownership of the DOT-installed street lights, that PECO was therefore required to compute and provide the Township a refund concerning the electric bills for the street lights that it asserted should have been billed under the SL‑E rate from the period when such rate was established.[footnoteRef:13]  The Township sought a refund of the difference between the GS rate and the SL-E rates from the effective date of the rate change, plus interest, or in the alternative, the difference of the rates from March 25, 1993, the date of its oral request for the rate change, to July 6, 1993, plus interest. [13:  	Ownership by the Township of the DOT-installed street lights was questioned in the dispute.  To support the alleged ownership of the DOT-installed street lights, the Township presented testimony that it acquired ownership of the street lights from DOT by either a gift or a purchase before the SL-E rate was established in 1986.  676 A.2d at 307.] 


PECO responded to the formal complaint, inter alia, that under Section 1303 of the Code, it had no duty to change the rate until the Township requested the rate change in writing and that PECO changed the rate within a reasonable time after the Township's request.

The Commission affirmed the presiding ALJ’s denial of the Township’s complaint.  The Commission’s decision was based upon the Township’s failure to establish PECO’s actual knowledge of the Township's ownership and maintenance of the street lights, previously installed and owned by DOT, before an oral request for application of the more advantageous rate.  The Commission rejected the notion that Section 1303 imposed an obligation upon PECO to re-bill and provide the Township a refund for the period alleged by the Township to run from the applicability of the SL-E rate to the street lights.  676 A.2d at 308.  The court affirmed the Commission decision on appeal.

In The Victory Condominium Association v. PECO Energy Company, Docket No.  C-2011-2268126 (Order entered September 27, 2012), we considered and denied the formal complaint of a condominium association for an alleged violation of Section 1303 where it disputed the utility’s actual notice of changed service conditions concerning applicable contract limits under rate HT.  On consideration of the facts, we found that there was no liability as the record did not demonstrate that PECO knew any facts that would have imposed on it a duty to inquire about the most advantageous rate that applied to the complainant.  See Order at 11.

When we apply the legal and administrative precedents of Springfield Twp., Ben Mauro v. Duquesne Light Co., Victory Condominium Assoc., and City of Pittsburgh v. Duquesne Light Co., to this dispute and review the record, we are persuaded, and so find, that under the facts and circumstances of the KA Complaint, the presiding ALJ did not properly conclude that PECO’s actions were in violation of Section 1303 and 1501 of the Code.

In its Exceptions, PECO agrees that, once actual notice was received of the change in service conditions, it had an affirmative duty to assist KA in making a proper rate decision.  In this regard, PECO points out that it acted in accordance with its tariff in maintaining the existing rate until the customer (KA) informed it of the actual change in circumstances.

Applicable case law supports granting PECO’s Exceptions.   As noted, under Section 1303, the duty is upon the customer to inform the utility when circumstances change and not on the utility.  As established by case law precedent, the idea that a utility has an obligation to monitor the consumption and usage habits of the ratepayer and to immediately apply the most advantageous rate has been rejected.  See Ben Mauro v. Duquesne Light Company, Springfield Twp., supra.  Rather, the duty is on the customer to contact the utility and to seek review.

After the initial contact with PECO, KA expressly intended that the electric service to the Service Address should be kept “as is” until a more informed decision concerning its energy needs could be made.  KA, as landlord, can be assumed to have anticipated leasing the premises to a subsequent tenant as soon as it could – possibly to another grocery store.  The initial contact between KA and PECO occurred in January 2016.  FOF #39.

Once that contact between the ratepayer and utility is made, then the utility does have a duty to address the situation to place the customer on the most advantageous rate available as quickly as possible.  Where the rate change can be made quickly and easily, it should be done.  See Ben Mauro.  In this case, the complication is that the existing rate which proved no longer advantageous to KA is one which locks customers into a contract based on the fact that PECO has, inter alia, reserved capacity on PJM on behalf of the customer by determining the applicable PLC value for the customer’s account.  This determination, as noted, occurs in July, but is not effective until May of the following year.  PECO transferred the billing determinants derived from information of the prior contract with Pathmark, to KA in order to maintain the existing rate in accordance with its tariff requirements.  When this transfer of billing determinants occurred after the initial contact between the KA representative and PECO, PECO did not have any data or information from KA to the contrary.  We also note that in addition to PLC, PECO’s tariff requires that a change in rates be supported by documentation such as an engineering estimate of the diversified peak demand, which is a reasonable requirement when dealing with the substantial usage of large businesses and industry.  The provision is less important, however, where the property is vacant.  While the Service Address was vacant from the period January 2016 until the hearings in this matter, it does not appear from the record that PECO was expressly advised of the vacant nature of the property until discussions with Ms. Gilfedder in July 2016.  FOF # 40.

It is the period of time in July 2016, that we are able to attribute a duty on behalf of PECO make further inquiry concerning the change in service conditions on behalf of KA.[footnoteRef:14]  [14:  	While the bankruptcy of the prior occupant and ratepayer at the Service Address would have resulted in PECO’s knowledge of the bankruptcy, the bankruptcy itself would not cause PECO to assume a change in usage of the premises.  See 11 U.S.C. § 366.  It is not unusual for businesses to continue to operate through a bankruptcy.] 


Based on the foregoing, we conclude that PECO’s actions were consistent with its tariff and its obligations under Section 1303 and 1501 of the Code until July 2016, when it should have applied the more advantageous rate, rate GS, upon the request of the customer.  Therefore, we reverse the Initial Decision and direct that PECO shall reimburse KA for the difference in billed rates between the rate HT and rate GS for the time period from July 13, 2016, to the application of rate GS to the applicable KA account.  This is the period from the time between the customers’ request in July 2016 and the application of the new rates on September 1, 2016.

2.	PECO Exception No. 2 – PECO excepts to the imposition of a civil penalty in this matter.


In this Exception, PECO again explains that it acted in good faith when it retained the billing determinants applicable to Pathmark to accommodate the initial directives from KA to maintain the rate, “as is” until a subsequent, more informed decision could be made by KA.  Exc.  13-14.

Disposition

Under Sections 3301(a) and (b) of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 3301(a)-(b), “. . . the Commission may levy a fine of up to $1,000 per day for continuing violations of the Public Utility Code.”

On consideration of the recommendation of the presiding ALJ, we conclude that there is no evidence to support the imposition of a civil penalty in this matter.  Based on the foregoing, the Initial Decision is reversed and the $4,000 penalty against PECO is vacated.

Before concluding, we strongly encourage PECO to revisit its corporate policy regarding its procedures on the transfer of accounts including but not limited to all rate options, procurement class and PLC value, with new customers.  It is hoped that such modification would better inform the new customer and prevent customer service issues and confusion similar to those that occurred in this proceeding.

Conclusion

Based on the foregoing, we shall grant PECO’s Motion and grant PECO’s Exceptions.  Accordingly, PECO shall reimburse KA for the difference in billed rates from the time between the customers’ request for service in July 2016 and the application of the new rates on September 1, 2016.  PECO shall preserve its work papers for the reimbursement for review upon request.  Additionally, the civil penalty of $4,000 against PECO that was recommended by the ALJ in the Initial Decision shall be reversed; THEREFORE,

IT IS ORDERED:

		1.	That the Motion to file Exceptions Nunc Pro Tunc that was filed by PECO Energy Company on January 10, 2018, is granted, consistent with this Opinion and Order.

[bookmark: _Hlk496011836]		2.	That the Exceptions filed by PECO Energy Company on January 10, 2018, to the Initial Decision of Administrative Law Judge Eranda Vero that was issued December 19, 2017, are granted, consistent with this Opinion and Order.

		3.	That the Formal Complaint filed by KA at Fairless Hills, LLC, is sustained, consistent with this Opinion and Order.

		4.	That PECO Energy Company shall, pursuant to Section 1312 of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 1312, refund an amount to KA at Fairless Hills, LP, plus interest at the legal rate from the date of each excessive payment, the difference between rate HT and rate GS for the time period from July 13, 2016 to the application of rate GS to the applicable service account.

		5.	That this proceeding be marked closed.

								BY THE COMMISSION,
[image: ]




								Rosemary Chiavetta
								Secretary

(SEAL)
ORDER ADOPTED: November 8, 2018
[bookmark: _GoBack]ORDER ENTERED:  December 17, 2018
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8


, 


to the Initial Decision (I.D.) of Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) 


Eranda Vero


,


 


issued 


on 


December 1


9


, 201


7, in the 


above


-


captioned proceeding


.  


A 




PENNSYLVANIA   PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION   Harrisburg, PA 17105 - 3265     Public Meeting held  November 8,   2018       Commissioners Present:       Gladys M. Brown, Chairman     Andrew G. Place, Vice Chairman     Norman J. Kennard     David W. Sweet     John F. Coleman, Jr.         KA at  Fairless Hills, LP                      C - 2017 - 2592335                v.     P ECO Energy Company           O PINION AND ORDER       BY THE COMMISSION:     Before the  Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission ( Commission )   for  consideration and disposition are  the  Exceptions   of  PECO Energy   Company (PECO or  Company) and   its  Motion to File Exceptions  Nunc Pro Tunc   (Motion) ,   filed  on  January   10 , 201 8 ,  to the Initial Decision (I.D.) of Administrative Law Judge (ALJ)  Eranda Vero ,   issued  on  December 1 9 , 201 7, in the  above - captioned proceeding .   A 

